IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 72,231

MARVIN EDWIN JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING
Capital Collateral Representative

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
1533 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 487-4376

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the trial court's summary denial of Mr. Johnson's motion for post-conviction relief filed pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts as known to this Court in 1980 are contained in this Court's plurality opinion in Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980). Facts relevant to post-conviction issues are discussed within the body of Arguments I, II and III, infra. Briefly stated, Mr. Johnson, if provided an evidentiary hearing, would show that the court-appointed clinical psychologist, courtappointed the day of capital sentencing, was completely unaware of Mr. Johnson's family and personal background. psychologist has been made aware of background, and now is of the opinion that several statutory and many nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were available at sentencing in 1978. In addition, it will be demonstrated that trial counsel, who began preparing for sentencing the night before sentencing began, were grossly ineffective in their efforts to convince the sentencing judge that life was the proper penalty. Counsel also wholly failed to address critical but highly refutable ballistics and scenereconstruction evidence.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Argument I: Mr. Johnson's sentencing attorney in 1978 began preparation for capital sentencing the night before sentencing began. That night, counsel had a clinical psychologist speak with Mr. Johnson, and that psychologist testified the next day. Counsel and the psychologist candidly told the court that more information was necessary for the psychologist, the judge, and the jury to make decisions about Mr. Johnson. Counsel informed the Court that a complete and thorough investigation into Mr. Johnson's history was essential, but counsel did not perform such an investigation. The clinical psychologist who testified at sentencing has now been provided background information, and it is his expert opinion that compelling statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were available but not produced for the sentencer's consideration in 1978. Because counsel failed to provide compelling evidence in mitigation to the psychologist, judge, and jury in 1978, Mr. Johnson's rights to effective assistance of counsel, and to a competent mental health evaluation were violated. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986).

<u>Argument II</u>: The State had only a shaky eyewitness identification to tie Mr. Johnson to the crime scene.

Consequently, the State presented complicated, confusing, and, we now know, completely unreliable ballistics and crime-scene reconstruction evidence purportedly to show that one of the bullets shot during cross-fire at the scene ended up in Mr. Johnson's body. Because trial counsel did not even look at the physical evidence until the weekend before trial, and then did nothing to analyze the evidence, Mr. Johnson was unable to refute readily refutable opinions, and was unable to demonstrate the complete unreliability of the State's evidence. Counsel's duty is to investigate, and a competent investigation in this case would have created a reasonable probability that the result at guilt/innocence would have been different. Strickland, supra.

Argument III: The two-year time limitation contained in Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, does not bar Mr. Johnson's claims because:

a. The claims involve innocence in fact, gross attorney ineffectiveness, and fundamental constitutional rights. Even if this Court were to find that the rule literally applies, exceptions must be made for "prejudicial ineffectiveness, see Card v. Dugger, 512 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1987) (Barkett, J., concurring), in "unique circumstances," Darden v. State, 475 So. 2d 217, 218 (Fla. 1985), and when "the alleged constitutional error [either] precluded the development of true facts [or] resulted in the admission of false ones." Moore v. Kemp, 824

F.2d 847, 856 (11th Cir. 1987).

- b. Without exception, this Court's prior invocation of the two-year bar has been accompanied by facts in addition to passage of two years, for example: (1) the appellant had filed an earlier motion under Rule 3.850; (2) the matters raised could have been raised on direct appeal, or in a first Rule 3.850 motion, or (3) the matters had been previously resolved. Mr. Johnson filed his first Rule 3.850 motion April 10, 1988, and the issue contained therein could not have been raised on direct appeal. As soon as he became aware of the claims, he raised them. There is no two-years "plus," and application of the two-year rule to him is unjustified.
- c. Mr. Johnson's claim in Argument I is based upon new law, and it was raised upon discovery.
- d. Mr. Johnson's claim in Argument II was raised upon discovery, and it cannot be said that volunteer pro bono counsel acted with anything less than due diligence by proceeding with federal proceedings until completion before proceeding in state court.
- e. The application of the two-year rule to Mr.

 Johnson, under the unique circumstances of his case, violates due process of law.

ARGUMENT I

MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HIS RIGHTS TO COMPETENT ASSISTANCE FROM MENTAL HEALTH EXPERTS, AND TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, WERE VIOLATED

Mr. Johnson was sentenced to death. According to the majority of this Court in 1980, no reasonable basis existed in the record for any other penalty. If true, then sentencing counsel acting reasonably should have recognized this of-record shortcoming -- counsel's chore is to obtain a life sentence, not a life recommendation, and reasonably competent counsel when reviewing what was to be placed and what was placed before the jury must have known it did provide a reason for life. This Court said there was no reasonable basis produced, so it must also have been obvious to counsel -- if no reasonable person could have voted for life, the dearth of mitigation must have leapt from the record. In fact, sentencing counsel did admit, on the record, their total failure to investigate.

If the record was so sparse, it was not because it was necessarily so. As will be shown, upon the provision of relevant background data to a competent mental health expert, statutory and non-statutory mitigating evidence was available in abundance. While the judge in this case found no mitigation, "assuming [Mr. Johnson's] allegation to be true as we must in this posture,

there were mitigating circumstances which cannot be characterized as insubstantial", and counsel simply failed to produce them.

Porter v. Wainwright, 805 F.2d 930, 936 (11th Cir. 1986)

(emphasis added). Mr. Johnson will demonstrate 1) that the jury's recommendation of life, being (as this Court decided) unreasonable, did not cure the constitutional error that occurred, 2) that counsel acting reasonably would have provided the jury with a record that would have required a life sentence, and that the right to competent mental health assistance was violated, and 3) that counsel was ineffective before the sentencer, the judge.

A. A JURY RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE DOES NOT RENDER CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR HARMLESS

Mr. Johnson was entitled to competent mental health assistance. See State v. Sireci, 502 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1987);

Mason v. State, 489 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1986). He was also entitled to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. 668 (1984). The issue is not whether the procedure in which counsel for Mr. Johnson participated produced an unreasonable but favorable recommendation from the jury. The issue is whether the denial of the right to counsel and to expert assistance undermines this Court's confidence in the reliability of the result of capital sentencing. Both the sixth and fourteenth amendment violations in this case undermine confidence

in the result, and an evidentiary hearing is necessary.

Jurors do not sentence in Florida. Judges do. That is the rationale given by this Court for its rejection of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). See Combs v. State, 13 F.L.W. 142, 143 (Fla. 1988). ("[T]he trial judge imposes the sentence.") Consequently, what matters in analyzing constitutional error before juries and judges is whether the error undermines confidence in what the trial judge did. Thus, if the trial court correctly overrode a recommendation of life, and if, as petitioner alleges, but for counsel's (or mental health expert's) errors the trial judge could not have overridden, then confidence in the outcome of capital sentencing is shaken. Similarly, since the judge sentences, and since evidence can and frequently should be presented to the judge alone, post jury recommendation, see Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987), confidence is shaken when evidence that could have been presented to the judge sentencer was not presented because of counsel's misplaced and unreasonable reliance upon the non-supportable jury recommendation.

The Eleventh Circuit's decision in <u>Porter v. Wainwright</u>, 805 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 1986), provides the proper sixth amendment analysis, which is equally applicable to the fourteenth amendment

claim here. 1 In <u>Porter</u>, the Court wrote:

In light of the mitigating evidence Porter proffered to the district court, assuming Porter's version of the facts to be true, Porter can successfully overcome the performance obstacle of the <u>Strickland</u> test.

In order for Porter to show constitutional ineffective assistance of counsel, he must also show that he was prejudiced by his attorney's performance. See Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. Porter must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 2068. Thus, Porter must should enough to undermine our confidence in the trial judge's decision to reject the jury's recommendation of life.

¹This Court affirmed the summary denial of Mr. Porter's post-conviction claims, <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985), but did not suggest in the slightest that a jury recommendation of life <u>ipso facto</u> defeats a constitutional challenge. This Court did not address the second matter under discussion here — that the judge should be presented with mitigation post-jury recommendation, especially when he or she knows additional purportedly bad things about a defendant. The Eleventh Circuit disagreed with this Court's decision that "on its face the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel showed no grounds for relief." 478 So. 2d at 35.

Our assessment of this issue should "proceed on the assumption that the decisionmaker is reasonably, conscientiously, and impartially applying the standards that govern the decision." Id. In this case, the trial judge applied Fla.Stat.Ann. sec. 921.141(3) (West 1985) in rejecting the jury's recommendation of life. The Florida Supreme Court has held that, in order for a judge to reject a sentencing jury's recommendation of life imprisonment, the facts justifying a death sentence must be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ as to the appropriateness of the death penalty. v. State, 458 So.2d 755, 758 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1045, 105 S.Ct. 2062, 85 L.Ed.2d 336 (1985); <u>Lemon v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 885, 888 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230, 105 S.Ct. 1233, 84 L.Ed.2d 370 (1985); Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975). In light of the very strict standard that applies in jury override cases, and in light of the fact that the sentencing judge viewed this case as one without any mitigating circumstances when in fact, assuming Porter's allegations to be true as we must in this posture, there were mitigating circumstances which cannot be characterized as insubstantial, our confidence in the outcome--the outcome being the trial judge's decision to reject the <u>jury's recommendation--is undermined.</u> See Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. We cannot say that, with Porter's proffered evidence in hand, no reasonable person could differ as to the appropriate penalty. Thus, we conclude that, assuming Porter's version of the facts to be true, Porter would have satisfied both the performance and prejudice prongs of the Strickland test for ineffective assistance of counsel.

<u>Porter</u>, 805 F.2d at 936-37. At footnote 6, the <u>Porter</u> Court recognized that the <u>Strickland</u> standard was easier to satisfy in

an override setting than in a non-override setting:

Since this case involves a jury override, we need not decide whether Porter's proffered evidence would undermine our confidence in a death sentence entered upon recommendation of the jury. Our conclusion in this jury override case is bolstered by this court's recent decision in Thomas v. Kemp, 796 F.2d 1322 (11th Cir. 1986). Thomas the defendant proffered mitigating character evidence that had not been presented at his sentencing. As in the instant case, Thomas proffered the testimony of family members and others to show that Thomas had a difficult home environment, that he cared for his family, that he worked hard at school and that he was mentally ill. Thomas court held that, had this evidence been presented at sentencing, there was a reasonable probability that the result of the sentencing would have been different. F.2d at 1325.

Thomas was not a jury override case. Since the facts in Thomas were sufficient to undermine the court's confidence in the death sentence which was rendered by the jury itself, we are sure that the facts alleged by Porter are sufficient to undermine confidence in the jury override sentence here.

Id.

The evidence presented next should be developed at an evidentiary hearing, and will show that confidence in the outcome of sentencing is undermined.

- B. VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BEFORE THE JURY
 - 1. Counsel and the Mental Health Expert Admitted Their Lack of Preparation

There were two attorneys at guilt/innocence, neither of whom

were prepared for trial. After the guilty verdict, three new attorneys appeared. These attorneys admitted they had not conducted the investigation and preparation necessary for capital sentencing. The preparation began and ended the night before sentencing. The preparation at that date guaranteed that the due process right to capital mental health expert assistance would be violated.

On December 8, 1978, the jury returned a guilty verdict. On December 9, 1978, sentencing counsel appeared, filed motions, and discussed what should happen for a proper sentencing hearing. Specifically, counsel told the Court he believed the judge and jury should know about Mr. Johnson's background, but counsel had done nothing to find out about it. He also told the Court that Mr. Johnson needed time to receive a competent mental health evaluation, which had not occurred.

a. <u>Background Information Was Not Investigated</u>

One of the motions filed the day of the jury sentencing was a Motion for Pre-Sentence Investigation (R. 1683). The motion stated:

COMES NOW, the Defendant, by and through his undersigned counsel, and moves this Court to order a pre-sentence investigation so that counsel for the Defendant may be adequately prepared to offer material and relevant disclosures in that pre-sentence investigation as mitigating circumstances to the jury impaneled to render an advisory sentence and for the trial judge.

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays this Court will order a pre-sentence investigation prior to the penalty portion of this cause.

Id. (emphasis added). In argument to the Court, counsel
admitted:

We do not believe under the circumstances of this case that adequate time exists for such preparation.

(R. 1577).

It's inconceivable to me that Your Honor could consider imposition of the death penalty without thorough background study of the defendant . . . Your Honor should have absolutely all possible relevant information about the defendant. And we believe, Your Honor, that if you should have that information, if the jury is to hear all possible mitigating circumstances, that that investigative report should be made available to counsel.

JUDGE: Certainly it would be available to counsel if I order a P.S.I., no question about that.

MR. KERRIGAN: But I'm saying, Your Honor, prior to the hearing by the jury of the sentencing portion of the trial because there may be information ---

JUDGE (Interposing) You're saying I should have a P.S.I. before the sentencing portion of the trial?

MR. KERRIGAN: This is really a bifurcated request. We're saying that we want you to get a P.S.I., of course, but if Your Honor is going to order one, it would seem to me that it ought to be ordered prior to the time that the jury considers the sentencing portion because there may be some information that comes out in that report that will benefit the defendant, and that

information should be made known to the jury -- information that we do not now know, and that the investigative agencies of the State would be able to learn to assist the Court and counsel for the State and counsel for the defendant in that portion of the trial. If Your Honor elects not to do that, of course, we would ask you to order one before you make your decision. So it's really a bifurcated request.

JUDGE: I don't know if I should ask the State to comment on that or not because it's a decision the Court has to make anyway. I will decide on that after the advisory jury comes back --

MR. KERRIGAN: (Interposing) Okay. Thank you, Your Honor.

(R. 1617-18) (emphasis added). Of course, counsel was correct that the judge and jury should know about Mr. Johnson's background. What is "inconceivable" is that counsel would appear the day of sentencing without having obtained the evidence independently. The record clearly shows, however, that the day of sentencing was a day of beginning preparation. Motions were filed, counsel "looked at court files for the first time" (R. 1632-33), and the State was asked about their proof, all for the first time.

b. <u>Mental Health Expert Was Unprepared</u>

The trial record reflects the inadequacy of the mental health assistance provided to Mr. Johnson. Counsel stated:

MR. KERRIGAN: Now, Your Honor, I would advise the Court in regard to our motion for expert witness fees and for a continuance, two things. Number one, Your Honor is well

familiar, I know, with Ron Yarbrough, a very capable psychologist.

JUDGE: I know him very well.

MR. KERRIGAN: After the defendant was found guilty by the jury, I immediately attempted to locate an expert in the field of psychology or psychiatry and, as you know, it's not easy to find people to come to the jail at night and commence any kind of an evaluation. I did that to assist the Court and the jury pursuant to the mitigating circumstances enumerated in paragraph "B" and "F", and I think that's indicated in our motion as "B" and "F" respectively --

JUDGE: (Interposing) I'm not sure where --oh, you mean parts of 921.141?

MR. KERRIGAN: Yes. "B" provides the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. "F", the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.

. . . .

We're presented in this case with a denial of guilt by the defendant. We proceeded after the determination of guilt by the jury to have him examined, and Dr. Yarbrough and I met with the defendant last evening until the early hours of the morning. He conducted the preliminary tests that he'd like to, of course, advise the Court about and the jury. Those preliminary indications, Your Honor, are that the defendant may have, in fact, evidence which would be admissible under sub-paragraph "B". I do not think under sub-paragraph "F". And that provision is, again, under extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

We asked Dr. Yarbrough to conduct the examination that he felt would be helpful to determine whether or not the defendant at that time was under a mental or emotional disturbance which could have led to the killing of the decedent. Of course, again, we had to assume because the jury found the defendant guilty that he actually committed the crime.

There are some preliminary indications from Dr. Yarbrough which indicate additional testing would be not only helpful but beneficial to the Court also and to the defendant. We would like for you to reserve judgment on that motion perhaps until you either have an opportunity, on the record or however Your Honor decides to do it, to talk with Dr. Yarbrough about his preliminary examination.

JUDGE: Is Dr. Yarbrough available today?

MR. KERRIGAN: Yes. He's agreed to come in to assist the Court.

JUDGE: Well, if you're moving for the fees to pay the doctor, I'll grant that portion of it, but I'm not going to delay the trial to give him further time to examine him.

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