MARVIN EDWIN JOHNSON,

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Johnson, fully aware of all possible claims including those regarding counsel, elected to waive all state proceedings and proceed directly to federal court. Johnson obtained federal review by swearing exhaustion of all state claims and remedies. Johnson's counsel confessed at his subsequent 3.850 hearing that no state proceedings were initiated in 1982 because counsel **assumed** those remedies would "always be there". In other words, Johnson conciously piecemealed this litigation.

Every claim raised by Johnson was known and could have been raised in 1982. He has not shown any legal or equitable basis for waiving the two year time bar of Rule 3.850.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RELYING UPON AND ENFORCING THE PROVISIONS OF FLA.R.CRIM.P. 3.850

Marvin Edwin Johnson's petition for post conviction relief was time barred under the two year limitations period created by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. Johnson, however, believes that the time bar should not be applied to him for several reasons; set forth as follows:

- (a) Reliance upon the "old" rule.
- (b) "Ex Post Facto" considerations.
- (c) Involvement in federal litigation.
 - (A) Reliance Upon the Old Rule

As noted by Mr. Johnson at oral argument in the Circuit Court, the only reason he did not file a "3.850" petition at the conclusion of his direct appeal or at the time of his first warrant is because he assumed that the state remedy would "always be there". This is a telling admission, for now we have a recorded representation by capital counsel that they indeed engaged in piecemeal litigation; filing only a few claims at a time since they knew other claims and other stall tactics would "always be there". Johnson has truly let the cat out of the bag.²

(B) The Ex Post Facto Issue

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 was created as a modification of former Criminal Procedure Rule 1, which in turn

No matter how many warrants are signed, this same tactic, using piecemeal claims or flatly barred claims, is repeated. Of course, this pattern has already been recognized. Dugger v. Johnson, U.S. (March 15, 1988, No. A-698); Davis v. Wainwright, U.S. , 92 L.Ed.2d 783 (1986); Woodard v. Hutchins, 464 U.S. 377 (1984).

A classic example of this strategy is the pending case of **Kennedy v. State,** Case No. 71,678 (pending case files can be noticed). In that case CCR prepared and served on this office a 3.850 petition, but an intervening United States Supreme Court stay (based on **Lockhart v. McCree**) caused CCR not to file the petition (withdraw it) and then hold the petition for **ten months.** The complete history is set forth in the court's files.

² We call the court's attention to the 3.850 petition at bar, wherein stored, boilerplate claims from the Bueford White case were taken off the CCR word processor and applied to Johnson in a pleading that was not filed until April 10. Indeed, the petition even refers to Mr. Johnson as Mr. White at one point, a fact noticed at the 3.850 hearing. (Tr 11). We submit that many of the standard complaints we see in these death warrant cases are boilerplate complaints which could have been filed much As to the claims of ineffective counsel, a look at sooner. CCR's appendices shows the usual litany of affidavits, all signed within days of filing, none of which remotely approach the "proof" required by **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). We submit that as a matter of timing and strategy - no matter whether a 30, 40 or 60 day warrant is involved - death row inmates always file their petitions on the weekend before their execution, with massive appendices and boilerplate claims accompanied by an attack on counsel and friendly psychiatric reports from Dr. Carbonell, Dr. Krop, Dr. Fox, Dr. Lewis or some other defense stable doctor, and a massive "personal history" of the petitioner.

was created in response to the decision in **Gideon v. Wainwright**, 135 So.2d 746, **reversed**, 372 U.S. 335 (1963). It was patterned after 28 U.S.C. §2255. The intent of this rule³ was explained in **Roy v. Wainwright**, 151 So.2d 825, 826-7 (Fla. 1963); to-wit:

> "When Gideon was announced the only practicable procedures available in Florida for a post conviction assault upon a judgment were by habeas corpus, writ of error coram nobis. or On 1962, September 15, the Florida Judicial Council instituted a study of conviction remedies and post the advisability of establishing some expeditious method of disposing of post conviction claims of deprivation of organic rights which occurred at trial. At its meeting on October 27, 1962, Council specifically the recommended the adoption of a rule or the enactment of a statute which would facilitate and expedite the handling of post conviction claims".

From its inception, therefore, the purpose of Rule 3.850 has been to "facilitate and expedite" claims, not to create new avenues for delay, procedural gamesmanship or the obstruction of justice.

The reference to §2255 bears notice, of course, because the twin federal "statutory habeas corpus" acts (§2254 and §2255), do not involve "constitutional habeas corpus" rights or **any due**

³ Rule 1 and Rule 3.850 were similar. Rule 3.850 primarily served to take the caseload pressure off of the circuit court where the state prisons were located. See Author's Comments to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850.

process rights at all. Sumner v. Mata, 455 U.S. 591 (1982); Wainwright v. Torna, 455 U.S. 586 (1982); Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600 (1974) and Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. ____, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987).

The **Finley** case bears notice for in it the court held that a state, by graciously providing for non-constitutional collateral attack, will not suffer "attachment" of a full "panoply of due process rights". Thus, in that case, the state of Pennsylvania, though providing for counsel on collateral attack, was not required to provide "competent counsel" (or defend attacks on the competence of collateral counsel).

For our purposes, this means that Rule 3.850, created to expedite collateral attacks, carries with it no "due process" or constitutional rights whatsoever. When we consider the fact that Rule 3.850 is not a penal statute and does not affect the length of sentence, we find that no constitutional issues are present which warrant suspension of the rule, even as amended.

The two year time provision of Rule 3.850 was created on January 1, 1985. Originally, Johnson and others convicted prior to that date had until January 1, 1986 to file their petitions. **The Florida Bar re Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure,** 460 So.2d 907 (Fla. 1986). That deadline was extended to January 1, 1987. **In re Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal**

- 13 -

Procedure, 481 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1985). As we all know, the time bar was created to prevent the very abuses present in this case.

Marvin Johnson has had nine years to file this petition. He has been continuously represented by counsel. He **elected** to ignore Rule 3.850 and go directly to federal court. He **elected** to abuse process and piecemeal his claims, a few at a time, in the state and federal courts as each warrant was signed.

Time limitations for the filing of collateral attacks have always been upheld. See United States ex rel Caruso v. Zelinsky, 689 F.2d 435 (3rd Cir. 1982). Congress itself has periodically limited and expanded §2254 in response to the needs of the federal courts. Henry v. Mississippi, 373 U.S. 443 (1965); Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 (1963); Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72 (1977).

The **"ex post facto"** clause does not attach to changes in law which to not alter substantial personal rights and are merely procedural. **Miller v. Florida**, U.S. , 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987). Time limits for filing collateral attacks are merely procedural. **Doran v. Compton**, 645 F.2d 440 (5th Cir. 1980). Of course, "piecemeal litigation" is not a "right" just because it is "possible". It is "not to be tolerated". **Woodard v. Hutchins, supra.**

- 14 -

We would also note that the **ex post facto** clause restricts the legislature, not the judiciary, and Rule 3.850 is a judicial creation. In re Rules of Criminal Procedure, 272 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1972); accord: Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188 (1971). The central concerns of the **ex post facto** clause are criminalization of conduct that was legal when committed and enhanced punishment, neither of which is implicated by Rule 3.850. See Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24 (1981).

Johnson equates the creation of a limitations period with denial of access to the courts. There is no right, however, to collateral attack. In **United States v. MacCollum, 4**26 U.S. 317, 323 (1976), the court held:

> "The due process clause of the Fifth Amendment does not establish any right to an appeal, see **Griffin v. Illinois**, 351 U.S. 12, 18, 100 L.Ed.2d 891, 76 S.Ct. 585, 55 A.L.R.2d 1055 (1956) (plurality opinion) and certainly does not establish any right to collaterally attack a final judgment of conviction".

Finally, we note that Johnson has not been discriminated against by the application of the time bar. Unlike "new" convicts, Johnson had from 1982 to 1987 to file a collateral attack (5 v. 2 years). Johnson also had a full two years after the amendment within which to file. The same two years given to everyone else.

- 15 -

(c) Federal Litigation

While it is true that Johnson was in federal court, he was not precluded **in any way** (even if his federal litigation looked like it might succeed) from filing a simultaneous action in state court. As this Court is aware from its own files, Charles Kenneth Foster just recently filed for and won a state habeas corpus action (and attempted to get 3.850 relief) while his case - like Johnson's - was pending in the Eleventh Circuit and the United States Supreme Court.

After Johnsons' briefs were filed, his idle attorney could have drafted state court pleadings just as Foster, Meeks and Cooper have done.

In Sanders v. United States, 373 U.S. 1, 18 (1963), the court held:

"Nothing in the traditions of habeas corpus requires the federal courts to tolerate needless piecemeal litigation or to entertain collateral proceedings whose only purpose is to vex, harrass or delay".

Just as no federal "tradition" exists, no state tradition exists.

We must not lose sight of Mr. Johnson's motives or his ultimate plan for this case. Johnson wants to delay these proceedings for as long as possible. He is not interested in "disposition" of the case, orderly or otherwise, because "disposition" means "execution".

Opponents of capital justice readily concede that most, if not all, of the major challenges to the system are dead. As the New York Times reported last year, capital litigation has now evolved into a "judicial guerilla war", in which opponents of the system work to maximize case backlogs and public expense until a frustrated populace yields to their position. In this way a strident minority can overcome democratic processes.

Applying the philosophy to Johnson's case, his program for the future (and status under **Sanders, supra**) is clear.

Johnson, represented by competent counsel, eschewed both state habeas and "3.850" relief in 1982 and went directly to federal court. Having exhausted that system, he now flagrantly asserts "reserved claims" in proceedings he allegedly "assumed would always be there". Why didn't Johnson raise these claims in 1982? The answer is clear - he reserved them to stay his **second** warrant.

We, of course, have seen this trend before. Ronald Straight and Larry Joe Johnson both filed single issue "habeas" petitions in this Court which they felt would warrant a stay. Only when habeas was denied did either man begin preparing his "3.850". Had this Court granted Johnson a stay on his habeas, who knows if he would have filed, or pursued (see Kennedy, supra) his 3.850.

- 17 -

Johnson's lawyers have stated on the record why no state action was taken. What they have not mentioned is the intended course of litigation.

Johnson used up time from 1982 to 1987 in federal court. Johnson hopes that this Court would permit this federal escapade to excuse his inactivity and permit protracted state court "merits" review on the "competence of counsel", "competence of expert witnesses" and who knows what else. After appealing any adverse decision and petitioning for certioari, Johnson intends to return to federal district court.

Any waiver of our procedural rules will provoke new federal "merits" review, Eleventh Circuit review and certiorari. This will easily consume several more years. Should a third warrant be signed, the Appellant will start the process again under whatever chic new theory is being touted ("McClesky", "Lockhart", "Caldwell" or whatever).

To opponents of capital justice, this is "orderly" review, to people of normal sensibilities, this is pure obstructionism.

Should this Court permit capital defendants to pick and choose when and how they will file in the state courts the concept of "finality" will be destroyed. By excusing state inactivity due to federal action, the Court would sanction all manner of delay tactics and forum shopping.⁴

Finally, we note that the courts of Florida are not "functionaries" or "subsidiaries" of the federal courts, even on "federal questions". Duckworth v. Serrano, 454 U.S. 1 (1981); Atlantic Coast Line Railroad v. Engineers, 398 U.S. 281 (1980). We can not demean and degrade our courts and procedures just because someone wants to go to federal court "first" and chooses to "see us later" because state procedures will "always be there".

Johnson chose to waive Rule 3.850, he is bound by and should be held to that choice; Wainwright v. Sykes, supra.

⁴ As stated above, other capital litigants - not represented by CCR, have had no problem pursuing either simultaneous litigation or "abating" pending federal cases while they returned to state court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE II

TRIAL COUNSEL WERE NOT INEFFECTIVE IN THEIR GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE PREPARATIONS

The Circuit Court dismissed Johnson's petition as timebarred and as a result did not rule on the merits of his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. This decision was correct. No one precluded Johnson from challenging the competence of counsel when, in 1982, he deliberately chose not to file a 3.850 petition. His abuse of procedure should not be rewarded by or with "merits" review if this Court's rules mean anything at all. **Blanco v. Dugger,** 12 F.L.W. 237 (Fla. 1987).

Without waiving our procedural defense the State will briefly discuss Johnson's claims so that we (should the Court elect to waive its own rules and address the merits) will not be precluded from arguing the actual facts as in **Foster v. Dugger**, 12 F.L.W. 598 (Fla. 1987).

The standard of review to be applied is that of **Strickland v. Washington, 466** U.S. 688, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), which requires establishment of both error by counsel and actual resulting prejudice so serious as to render unreliable the outcome of the case.

(a) "Penalty Phase" Counsel

Johnson is in "error" when he represents that nothing was done in anticipation of the penalty phase of his case. While it is true that counsel postured and begged for a sixty to ninety day break between the trial and penalty phases (as well as a second jury), the record is clear that they had witnesses (four, in fact) and were ready to proceed.

Johnson's "new evidence" all clearly could have been presented in 1982. It is, in any event, facially deficient as follows:

1. Affidavits from Johnson's friends and relatives are irrelevant since counsel for Johnson explicitly stated on the record (R 1614) that they did not intend to open his bad character up to inspection. Counsel made a strategic decision to avoid character evidence on the record, even should they now deny it. Even a "bad" strategic decision is not a basis for relief, Tucker v. Kemp, 776 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir. 1985); Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983); Stephens v. Kemp, _____ U.S. ____, 78 L.Ed.2d 370 (1983), and the decision sub judice has not been shown to be a bad one.

2. The affidavit of Dr. Yarbrough recanting his prior testimony on the basis of "evidence" assembled by CCR is not a basis for relief. **Anderson v. Maggio**, 555 F.2d 447 (5th Cir. 1977). Dr. Yarbrough made an honest appraisal at trial and,

- 21 -

significantly, found no symptoms or evidence of mental illness. We question the viability of any "diagnosis" which can find illness in the absence of symptoms based solely upon egregious reports supplied by the defense. Remember, it is presumed that Johnson, once aware of the purpose of his evaluations, presented his symptoms in a "useful" manner. Mims v. United States, 375 F.2d 135 (5th Cir. 1967); United States v. Mota, 598 F.2d 995 (5th Cir. 1979).

We would also note the recent decision of the United States Supreme Court in **Traynor v. Turnage**, U.S. ____, 1988 W.L. 45377 (April 20, 1988). In Traynor, the Supreme Court stated that alcoholism, whether or not a "disease", can itself stand as "willful misconduct" (apparently since ingestion of alcohol is still a personal choice).

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